RECEIVED

MAR 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes III, Master in Equity and Special Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2015-CP-07-1343
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000955

John Alden Bauer, III

Appellant

v

Beaufort County
School District

Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

March 30, 2017

John Alden Bauer III
109 Ashton Hill Drive
Columbia, South Carolina 29229
(843) 384-1506 aldenbauer706@gmail.com

Respondent Counsel of Record
David T. Duff
Duff, White & Turner, LLC
3700 Forest Dr.
Suite 404
Columbia, SC 29204

Phones: (803) 790-0603
Fax: (803) 790-0605

(A)

Cases

Constitutional Issue

South Carolina Constitution Section 22, (1970 (56) 2684; 1971 (57) 315) Page 22

Other laws, Cases, and Rules

Brown v. James, 697 S.E. 2d 604, 389 S.C. 41 (2010) Pages 7, 8, 13, 15

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act ("FERPA") Pages 16, 23

Fields-Lary v. Charleston County School District. 2014-CP-10-1480. Pages 11, 12, 13, 14, 15

Gonzales v. McEuen, 435 F. Supp. 460 (C.D. Cal. 1977) U.S. District Court for the Central District of California - 435 F. Supp. 460 (C.D. Cal. 1977) March 2, 1977. Page 19

Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 454 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (cited in Fields-Lary) Page 15

Middleton v. Charleston County Case No. 13-CP-10-7094, THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, In The Court of Appeals. Pages 9, 15

Moody vs. Dairyland Ins. Co., 354 S.C. 28, 30-31, 579 S.E.2d 527, 529 (Ct. App. 2003) (cited in Fields-Lary) Pages 13, 15

South Carolina Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act ("TEDA") Act 59-25-430 through 59-25-480. Pages 9, 12, 13, 15, 20, 21

Shell v. Richland County School District, 608 S.E.2d 428 (S.C. 2005) Page 14

(B) Statement of Issues on Appeal

- I. Errors in the Order of the Court of Common Pleas**
- II. District imposed 10 months of delays from June 21, 2014 to April 30, 2015**
- III. False Evidence Knowingly Admitted**
- IV. Why not Testify? The Case Was Won**
- V. Additional Violations by District.**

(C) Statement of the Case

1. February 5, 2014. John Alden Bauer, III was placed on Paid Administrative Leave.
2. February 5, 2014. Principal McAden was ordered to preserve evidence.

3. February 18, 2014. Childs and Halligan, attorneys receive document(s) from this case indicating that they have been retained.
4. April 14, 2014. Appellant signed new contract contingent on outcome of this case.
5. May 21, 2014. George McMaster wrote Litigation Hold Letter to Preserve Evidence, as final act as pro bono consultant (McMaster was closing his law practice).
6. May 21, 2014. Appellant was now fully pro se.
7. May 29, 2014. Superintendent Moss sent an *email* to Appellant detailing four (4) "bases" for his recommendation for termination, the *only* communication, ever, of any potential charges or accusations. (The first 2 bases became the "charges" on third day of hearing. Never sent)
8. June 5, 2014. Board accepts Superintendent's recommendation for terminating Appellant. No hearing had been held, nor had any "causes" been issued.
9. June 16, 2014. Superintendent confirms termination. Termination officially documented on July 1, 2014.
10. June 21, 2014. Appellant appeals Board action and issues FOIA Request. No response, a misdemeanor.
11. July 1, 2014. Official Termination Documented. (Documents withheld from appellant until June 14, 2016)
12. July 7, 2014. Appellant Petitions Board for Reinstatement based on violation of 15 day requirement for hearing. No Response.
13. August. Board ratifies termination. (Day unknown. Minutes later deleted)
14. September 2, 2014. Board ratification of termination is published on web.
15. October 21. Appellant again petitions Board for hearing. No response.
16. Depositions are held beginning on December 16, 2014 and continuing into February, 2015.
17. April 30-May 2. 2015. Beaufort County Board of Education Hearing.
18. May 19, 2015. Board Order signed.

19. May 29, 2015. Appellant appeals to the Court of Common Pleas
20. July 8, 2015. Attorneys of Record for Superintendent/District/Board Fired. Duff White and Turner retained.
21. August 19, 2015. Hearing in Court of Common Pleas. Considered Motion to Dismiss and to change named Respondent.
22. October 19, 2015. Motion for Summary Judgement Filed
23. January 19, 2016. Hearing in Court of Common Pleas. Considered Motion to Disqualify and Motion for Summary Judgment. Denied.
24. March 1, 2016. Hearing in Court of Common Pleas. Considered three Motions to Compel--Security Camera footage, Caller ID, Forensic Analysis of challenged letter. All denied.
25. March 4, 2016. Final Hearing in Court of Common Pleas.
26. March 16, 2016. Proposed Order submitted by Counsel for Respondent.
27. c. March 21, 2016. Appellant submitted response to proposed order and alleges substantial factual error(s) in the Proposed Order.
28. March 29, 2016. The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes III, signed the Final Order. Not entered.
29. April 25, 2016. The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes III, again signed the Final Order, dated March 29, 2016, filed the Order, and sent a copy via email to Appellant.
30. April 27, 2016. Hard copy of Final Order received by Appellant.
31. May 5, 2016. Appellant filed Notice of Appeal with the Clerk of Court. (Court of Appeals)

(D) Argument

Note: Seventeen "admitted" documents have disappeared. Discussed below, Numbers 47 and 50-53.

I. ERRORS IN COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ORDER dated March 29, 2016.

Subject: Officially Terminated Prior to Hearing, and Ratified.

1. *"...we do not find any provision among those in Chapter 25 of title 59 allowing school districts to veer outside of these provision(s) and establish their own conflicting regulations governing teacher employment. Furthermore, our courts, when presented with situations in which a statute provides a date, have held that the courts do not have the authority to change a date fixed by statute."* Attorney General Henry McMaster to Superintendent of Education Jim Rex, May 8, 2008.

The above citation will also apply to the district imposed delays. (II)

2. The proposed Order of the Court of Common Pleas had been written by David Duff, Counsel for Respondent. It allegedly contained multiple errors and Appellant submitted a 27 page document with suggested corrections. (R. pp. 53-76; Document begins on page 49 with general observations, followed by suggested corrections) No corrections were made except for misspelling.

This brief will deal with only one such ternary error-group, next.

3. From the Board Order, (R. p. 44, #3) (Underlinings by Appellant): *"Bauer maintains that he actually was terminated without the opportunity for a hearing, in violation of §§ 59-25-460 and 470, and contrary to the South Carolina Court of Appeals holding in Brown v. James, 389 S.C. 41, 697 S.E.2d 604 (Ct. App. 2010).¹ Initially, this issue*

was not supported by Bauer at the School Board's hearing by evidence or argument and was not preserved for appeal because the School Board did not rule on it. Secondly, Bauer's contention is without merit because his employment with the District clearly was not terminated until the Board unanimously voted to uphold the Superintendent's recommendation on May 2, 2015. (R. p. 44 - 45)

Note: Termination documents were executed July 1, 2014, more than nine (9+) months before the hearing.

4. The claim that Bauer did not argue the issue (above) is demonstrably false. It was repeatedly argued, (below) and witnesses for the district testified that Appellant was terminated, including the Superintendent of Schools and the Human Resources Officer, Alice Walton.

5. Examples of argument.

- Walton Testimony (S.R. p. 471, line 15; see lines 12-17)

"...asked on February 5th, 2015, if Mr. Bauer was terminated by the Board without a hearing," "That is correct."

- (S.R. p. 470, lines 2-4) Walton Q. "...And if a teacher is terminated without a hearing, does that violate Brown versus James?

A. I'm not familiar with Brown versus James.

- Appellant to superintendent, *"Did you state when I (appellant) was terminated that the bases for my termination were based on this May 29th (2014) email.....?"*

A Superintendent Moss “No, you were terminated for.....” (S.R. p. 650, line 13-16)

• Q “Concerning Mr. Bauer’s termination on June 5th...”

A (Moss) “The termination was embedded in two actions.....” (S.R. p. 665, line 15)

• Clearly the board considered the termination final by ratifying the termination in August 2014 and publishing the Ratification beginning September 2, 2014.

(Ratification documents from the district were struck)

6. Therefore, the contention that Appellant was terminated without a hearing is undisputed as proved by the district’s own witnesses at the Board Hearing, as cited above. The argument that the “*School Board did not rule on it*” was not relevant since it was not debatable. The Minutes of June 5, 2014 (document struck) say that Appellant was terminated, the superintendent confirmed the termination on June 16, 2014, and the district officially documented the termination in the Human Resources Office, dated July 1, 2014 (document struck). Nothing to the contrary, including form letters, can refute the facts.

II. DELAY

Note: Before termination, a hearing is required and the pay for a ‘*continuing contract teacher*’ should have continued until the results of the Board Hearing were known.

7. “...the statute, (TEDA 460) which for years has required boards to hold hearings within 15 days unless the time period was wived by the employee.” Childs and Halligan, August, 2016.

8. *“Please note that under the act only the teacher can waive the statutory deadline.”*
Childs and Halligan, July 22, 2014. (Letters from Childs and Halligan were struck)
9. Childs and Halligan represented the district at Appellant’s Board Hearing.
10. Appellant never asked for nor agreed to a waiver of the 15 day requirement.
11. Any claim that George McMaster, who was no longer practicing law, had agreed to a waiver, while Appellant was pro se, is irrational. Respondent is well aware of that.
12. *Middleton*, actually agreed to a limited delay, but not to the ensuing 4 month delay; a delay that was considered to be excessive by the court. (R. p. 107) *Middleton v. Charleston County* Case No.: 2013-CP-10-7094, THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, In The Court of Appeals.
13. By contrast the imposed delay on Appellant was over 9 months.
14. From Board Hearing, April 30, 2015, (S.R. p. 157, beginning line 21, to S.R. p 158, line 7)

Appellant: *“When the district learned that I had not agreed to an extension, why not have the hearing soon, or within 15 days, or a month, or at least a discussion of....dates? I was acting pro se, and yet based on the imposed delay, a motion to reinstate was submitted by me to the School Board on July the 7th, 2014. I did not receive a response.....by October 21st, I was frustrated with no responses and again petitioned the School Board. This petition asked to restart the 15-day calendar.”*
15. The requests were ignored and additional delays were imposed.
16. Timeline concerning delays:

June 5, 2014. Appellant terminated without a hearing. (Official Board Minutes were struck October 14, 2016.)

June 16, 2014. Superintendent emails, "You are current [sic] no longer an employee..." (Email struck)

June 21, 2014. Appellant appeals the termination. Fifteen day calendar for hearing begins. (Attorneys for district had been hired and had 5 months to prepare)

July 1, 2014. Official Termination Documentation were executed by the (Documents withheld from appellant until June 14, 2016) (Documents struck October 14, 2016)

July 7, 2014. Appellant asked superintendent if Appellant had been reinstated since no hearing had been held. (Document struck October 14, 2016)

April 30-May 2, 2015. Board Hearing. No evidence either way was presented regarding a delay except for Appellant's statement above, and no charges, by anyone, were ever presented before the hearing.

17. From Order, pages 4-5, Fields-Lary v. Charleston County School Board. Case

No.: 2014-CP-10-1480. October 22, 2014.

"The General Assembly established the mode of procedure to be used in the dismissal of public school teachers in Title 59, Chapter 25, Article 5 of the Code of

Laws. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 59-25-410 through 59-25-860. These statutes provide continuing contract teachers certain specific rights, including:

- 1. Written notice of reasons for dismissal from the School Board (§ 59-25-460)*
- 2. The right to a hearing (§ 59-25-460) (R. p. 285) and*
- 3. Procedural Due Process, including the right to be heard within 15 days (§ 59-25-470).”*

See #1. No written notice of reasons (charges) ever came from the School Board, or from anyone else. Not only was the hearing not scheduled (#3 above) within 15 days of the request, dated June 21, 2014, but, the final termination paperwork was completed on day nine (9) of the 15 day window indicating that there was no intention of scheduling a fair hearing during the final six days (6 of 15), or ever. (The Official District Termination Documents were struck on October 14, 2016)

18. A battery of experienced attorneys from Childs and Halligan were already on this case in February 2014 (emails from Human Resources Officer Walton) and this gave them 5 months to prepare. How is it that a pro se PE teacher is willing to go forward and abide by the law, but not the professionals?
19. The Order in *Fields* makes it clear that the language of TEDA is mandatory and not given to interpretation.

“It is a well-established legal principle that where the terms of the statute are clear, courts must apply those terms according to their literal meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation. Moody v. Dairyland...”

Page 8 of Fields-Lary

20. *“Twenty years later, in Brown v. James, the Court of Appeals held that the language of TEDA is unambiguous regarding procedure and that ‘the observance of the procedural requirements of the Employment and Dismissal Act is **mandatory and not a matter of discretion**. Only two years ago our Supreme Court reversed the decision of the Young v. Charleston County School District board for violating teacher rights provided in TEDA.”’ Fields-Lary, page 6 (Brown v. James, 697 S.E. 2d 604, 389 S.C. 41 (2010) (R. pp. 262-273; see page 267, paragraph 1, last sentence)*

21. David Duff, Counsel for the District, in the Court of Common Pleas on March 4, 2016 said, *“Most of the delay quite frankly, was due to Ms. Martel.”*

Lauren Martel was retained by Appellant on November 1, 2015, five (5) months into the delays following the Request for a Hearing, and 10 days after Appellant served his fourth Motion/Petition; all four of which were ignored. (Documents struck)

22. Why would an attorney (Duff) make such an outrageous accusation against a fellow officer (Martel) of the court?

23. See Affidavit of Lauren Martel. (Affidavit struck)

24. Case Law: “*The plain language of Section 59-25-470 stating that the hearing will be held not less than 10 nor more than 15 days after the hearing is served’ is mandatory...*” *Shell vs. Richland County School District One* 362 S.C. 408, 608 S.E. 2d 428 (2005) quoted in *Fields-Lary v. Charleston County School Board*. Case No.: 2014-CP-10-1480. October 22, 2014.

25. Appellant signed new contract on April 14, 2014, see next for importance.

26. ARTICLE 5. EMPLOYMENT AND DISMISSAL

SECTION 59-25-410. “*Notification of employment for ensuing year; notification of assignment.*”

“...*Notices of intent not to renew an employment contract shall be given in writing no later than April fifteenth of each year.*” also *Fields-Lary v. Charleston County School District*. 2014-CP-10-1480, pages 6-7.

27. Therefore, the hearing would have been required to be either before April 15, 2014 or within 15 days, thereafter, as acknowledged by Respondent’s Counsel on his website and which was Quoted verbatim on page 43 of the Board Hearing (S.R. p. 162 lines 5-15; Note quotation-punctuation [“-“] not in transcript. Complete article, S.R. pp. 837-838)

28. Case law iterates the mandatory nature of the law making it clear that no delays are permitted. In practical terms one could argue that an *agreement* to delay might be

legitimate, but not if either side objects. Below are examples of such case law as cited in Fields-Lary v. Charleston County School District. 2014-CP-10-1480.

Moody vs. Dairyland Ins. Co., 354 S.C. 28, 30-31, 579 S.E.2d 527, 529
(Ct. App. 2003)

Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 454 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000)

Brown v. James, 697 S.E. 2d 604, 389 S.C. 41 (2010) (R. pp. 262-273)

29. Whether one wishes to consider this a case of non-renewal, termination, (or suspension after termination!?) (Yes, suspension after termination really happened), or any of the above, TEDA is clear on the requirement for a timely hearing, if requested. This is emphasized on page 6 in Fields-Lary so that teachers “*have ample time to secure employment prior to the commencement of a new school year.*”
30. If the superintendent thought that he had a reason (though non-stated) for suspension under TEDA 59-25-450 (R. p. 275) he was nevertheless required to abide by the hearing timeline requirement.
31. There is no legitimate excuse for making no effort to comply with the law. Middleton was reversed on the basis of a 4 month delay. Respondent’s imposed Delays of 9+ months is even more egregious. Middleton v. Charleston County Case No. 13-CP-10-7094, THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, In The Court of Appeals. (R. p. 107)

32. “Unless expressly given, administrative agencies do not have authority to waive statutory requirements.” Ray Bell Construction Co, Inc. v. School District of Greenville County, 331 S.C. 19, 501 S.E.2d 725 (1998)(24790)

III. False Evidence

33. The attorneys and Mr. Duff knowingly allowed a false roll book, or attendance book, to be presented. All attorneys had been informed before the hearing that the true attendance book had been confiscated and withheld. (S.R. p. 305, lines 8-10, S.R. p. 307, lines 5-16)

34. Appellant anticipated the ploy of the false attendance book in his Opening Statement, Board Hearing, (S.R. p. 148, lines 1-4) “...*some of the evidence that the opposing counsel will use is misrepresented. Pay particular attention to what they claim is my class record book.*”

35. The false attendance book, with its empty pages, (R. p. 290; one page out of 102 pages included) comprised 81% by volume of the district’s exhibits. The withheld true attendance/grade book was sent inadvertently to Dr. John Bauer, of Columbia, along with a set of master keys (!) to the Beaufort County School District Offices. (Also enclosed were 13 un-redacted confidential student files, a violation of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (“FERPA”))

36. The principal who had hidden the true attendance/grade book also swore that she wrote a letter on her office computer, critical of Appellant, on a day in which she was not in the office. Internal evidence raised suspicions about the authenticity of the

letter, also noted during the hearing by a member of the Board, (S.R. p. 382, line 15, to S.R. p. 383, line 6). The letter, dated December 10, 1013 [sic] was never delivered. It was only presented, not delivered, by attorneys for the district as evidence. (District exhibit #17; S.R. p. 776)

37. Respondent has refused to authenticate the December 10, 1013 [sic] letter, a one minute operation, at no cost. In fact they could simply take a screen shot of the computer showing the creation date and modification dates of the letter. Appellant even offered to provide an independent person at no cost to Respondent. A Motion to Compel the authentication was denied by the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, an alleged error by the court.
38. One other document exhibited by the District was finally conceded, during vigorous cross examination, to have been falsely, i.e., "*incorrectly*" dated! (S.R. p. 281, lines 2-20)

IV. Why Not Testify? The Case Was Won

39. It was obvious that there was considerable sympathy from the Board for Appellant. Appellant counted at least 4 votes seemingly favoring Appellant before the deliberations. Why risk a long brutal cross examination that multiple attorneys had had months to prepare?
40. During breaks Chairman Evans repeatedly told Appellant's father things, such as, "*Your son is doing great. The opening statement was brilliant. Everyone is impressed.*"

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