THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the South Carolina Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

MAR 28 2017

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity and Special Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-07-1343  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000955

John Alden Bauer, III,

Appellant,

v.

Beaufort County School District,

Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

David T. Duff (S.C. Bar # 1768)  
David N. Lyon (S.C. Bar # 100676)  
DUFF & WHITE, LLC  
P. O. Box 1486  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 790-0603

Drew H. Davis (S.C. Bar # 102017)  
General Counsel  
Beaufort County School District  
Post Office Box 309

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

Bauer's Statement of the Issues on Appeal are improper because they do not clearly state the alleged reversible error or the legal principles involved. For this reason, the Court need not consider these claims of error and may affirm on the ground that the Circuit Court's decision is supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* at 346, 692 S.E.2d at 903 ("Under the two-issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.").

**B. "Errors in the Order of the Court of Common Pleas"**

Bauer asserts that the Circuit Court's order contained "multiple errors," though he argues only one. Specifically, he objects to the Circuit Court's finding that his claim that he was terminated without a hearing was both unpreserved and baseless.

The Circuit Court correctly determined that this issue was not preserved because it was not addressed through the presentation of evidence and consequently not ruled on by the School Board. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon" below. (emphasis added)); *Butler v. Town of Edgefield*, 328 S.C. 238, 248, 493 S.E.2d 838, 843 (1997) (applying preservation principles to a hearing by the Election Commission in an election protest). Bauer failed to offer any admissible evidence on this issue, and therefore the Board had no basis or reason to rule on such an issue.

Even if this issue was preserved, the Circuit Court correctly determined that there was no evidence to support such a claim, based on Bauer's failure to testify or otherwise present relevant information.<sup>5</sup> Bauer's citations to matter stated within questions he himself asked witnesses on cross-examination (*see* Appellant's Brief, pp. 8-9) is not evidence, and in any event do not establish that he was terminated at some point prior to the hearing. Additionally, Bauer's continued assertion that the Superintendent's letter of June 6, 2014<sup>6</sup> demonstrated that he had been terminated without a hearing is plainly and demonstrably incorrect. As the Circuit Court correctly pointed out, the June 6 letter informed Bauer that the Board "conditionally accepted" Moss's recommendation, subject to Bauer's right to a hearing, and that no final decision would be made until the hearing was held. (*See* Supp. R. p. 809). Accordingly, the Circuit Court was correct in holding that there was no basis to conclude that Bauer's employment was terminated without or prior to the hearing.

**C. "District imposed 10 months of delays. . ."**

Bauer asserts that the District failed to hold a hearing within 15 days after receipt of his hearing request, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-470. At the time of Bauer's teacher dismissal hearing, Section 470 stated that a teacher dismissal hearing,

---

<sup>5</sup> The July 1, 2014 "official termination documents" and the June 5, 2014 board minutes Bauer references (Appellant's Brief pp. 8-9) were not in evidence before the school board, *see supra*, pp. 2-3, and cannot be part of the record in this case. The District would dispute those documents demonstrate Bauer was terminated on that date. Although not entered into evidence, there was some discussion regarding the June 5, 2014 School Board meeting minutes. As the discussion makes clear, the document included a list of non-named employees ("Employee A, B, C . . .") whom the board voted to terminate. While Bauer initially assumed he was one of those employees, he was assured he was not, and he appeared to concede that he was not one of the unnamed employees. (Supp. R. p. 466, lines 13-25; Supp. R. p. 468, lines 10-13).

<sup>6</sup> Bauer cites a June 16, 2014 letter. However, no such document is contained in the record. Therefore, the District assumes Bauer means the June 6, 2014 letter.

properly requested by the teacher, “shall be held by the board no less than ten nor more than fifteen days after the request is served.”<sup>7</sup> This window of time in which to conduct a hearing was routinely waived by agreement of the parties, which is what occurred in this case. Though Bauer claims he never agreed to a delay and promised during his opening statement to show that to be the case (Supp. R. p. 157, lines 11-24), the Circuit Court correctly determined that Bauer failed to produce any testimonial or documentary evidence during the teacher dismissal hearing in support of this contention.<sup>8</sup>

In his brief, Bauer admits that he presented no evidence supporting this issue (*see* Appellant’s Brief at p. 11), and he instead cites to unsupported claims he made during his opening statement as evidence that he never agreed to a delay. (*See* Appellant’s Brief at p. 10-11, citing R. p. 157, line 11-p. 158, line 7). The opening statement, which was not made under oath, is not evidence in this case, as Bauer was repeatedly advised during the hearing. (*See generally*, Supp. R. pp. 677-683). Bauer ignored exhortations by the Board and its counsel to at least testify about the matters in his opening statement so that the information could be considered evidence. Bauer, however, steadfastly declined, stating that he believed “all of the main points” of his opening statement had been reinforced through witness testimony. (Supp. R. p. 677, line 22 - p. 683, line 12). Therefore, the

---

<sup>7</sup> In 2016, the statute was amended to state: “The hearing must be held by the board, or its designee, within forty-five days after the request is served.” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-470. The statute was amended in recognition of the fact that the 15-day deadline was, in most cases, impractical.

<sup>8</sup> Bauer cites to several documents in this section of his brief that were not presented to the School Board and are therefore not properly before this Court. *See supra*, pp. 2-3

Circuit Court correctly determined that there was no evidence to support Bauer's allegation that he did not agree to waive the 15-day deadline.<sup>9</sup>

Bauer also fails to allege that he was prejudiced by the delay. *See e.g., Olson v. S. Carolina Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 69, 663 S.E.2d 497, 504 (Ct. App. 2008) (stating that the appellant has the burden of demonstrating prejudice to prevail on a due process claim). The fact that Bauer hired an attorney, engaged in extensive discovery, including conducting depositions of all witnesses, suggests not only that he acquiesced to the delay but also that he utilized the extra time to prepare a case.

Bauer's discussion regarding teacher renewal deadlines listed in Section 59-25-410 is not relevant to this appeal. As was made clear to him during the hearing, his case involved termination rather than non-renewal of his contract. (Supp. R. p. 467, lines 1-4). Accordingly, the timelines governing non-renewal are not applicable to this case.

To the extent Bauer asserts he did not receive written notice of the reasons for his dismissal, the Circuit Court correctly determined that the communications from Superintendent Moss to Bauer—specifically Moss's email to Bauer on May 29 (*see*

---

<sup>9</sup> Bauer cites two circuit court decisions, *Middleton v. Charleston County School District*, Case No. 2013-CP-10-7094 (October 21, 2014) and *Fields-Lary v. Charleston County School District*, 2014-CP-10-1480 (October 22, 2014), neither of which are precedential or on point. In *Middleton*, the court found that school district improperly delayed a teacher contract non-renewal hearing by four months, noting that there was evidence showing the teacher agreed to only a limited waiver of the 15-day timeline "on the express condition that the hearing be conducted no later than June 15, 2013." (*Middleton* Order, p. 6). In *Fields-Lary*, also a teacher contract non-renewal case, there was evidence the teacher never agreed to extend the 15-day deadline. (*Fields-Lary* Order p. 7) In Bauer's case, he put forth no evidence of his refusal to agree to the extension, though he initially stated he would do so. Furthermore, unlike Bauer's case, the circuit court in *Middleton* and *Fields-Lary* found substantial evidence did not support the Board's decision regarding non-renewal. (*Middleton* Order p. 11-12; *Fields-Lary* Order p.10-11).

Supp. R. p. 808) and Moss's subsequent letter dated June 6 (*see* Supp. R. p 809)—provided more than adequate written notice of the reasons supporting the recommendation for dismissal and subsequent decision to terminate. As the Circuit Court found, the statement of reasons satisfied the notice requirement of section 59-25-460. The May 29 email from Moss to Bauer specifically states Bauer's infractions, beginning with the February 5 incident in which Bauer left a special needs student unsupervised. (Supp. R. p. 808). The email continues with a listing of the various meetings Bauer refused to attend and the directives issued by Walton and Moss that Bauer ignored. (Supp. R. p. 808). Moss's letter to Bauer on June 6—the official notice of Moss's intent to seek Bauer's termination—stated: "The bases for the recommendation include the grounds provided to you in my email dated May 29, 2014." (Supp. R. p. 809). Therefore, Bauer cannot reasonably argue that he was unaware of the reasons upon which Moss based his recommendation for dismissal.

#### **D. "False Evidence"**

Bauer complains that the District administration knowingly caused the admission into evidence of a false attendance book (*see* 2<sup>nd</sup> Supp. R. p. 4-12), and a letter written by McAden that was "falsely dated" (*see* Supp. R. p. 776). (Appellant's Brief pp. 16-17). Initially, this issue is unpreserved because the School Board was not presented with evidence on this question and therefore did not rule on the issue.<sup>10</sup> *Wilke*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733; *Butler*, 328 S.C. at 248, 493 S.E.2d at 843.

---

<sup>10</sup> In a motion before the Circuit Court, Bauer sought to conduct a forensic investigation to determine whether the McAden document was falsely backdated. (*See* R. pp. 22-23; *see also* Supp. R. pp. 40-59, 62-65). The Circuit Court correctly determined the motion was improper and denied it because its purpose was to introduce evidence into the record that was not before the Board. (R. pp. 22-23). The Circuit Court also stated there were

On the merits, there is no evidence demonstrating that the documents were false or that they were admitted with knowledge of their falsity. Bauer objected to the admission of a gradebook he turned over during discovery (*see* 2<sup>nd</sup> Supp. R. p. 4-12) on the grounds that it was a copy, not his original. (Supp. R. p. 305, lines 20-21). Bauer agreed that he would produce the original copy during his testimony. (Supp. R. p. 350, line 8–p. 351, line 3). Similarly, when Bauer’s questioning of McAden regarding her December 2013 letter suggested it was not written on the date recorded (Supp. R. p. 338, lines 15-25), Bauer was reminded that he could express his views about the authenticity of the letter during his testimony. (Supp. R. p. 339, lines 1-9). As noted above and throughout this brief, Bauer chose not to testify. Therefore, to the extent Bauer believed he could have demonstrated these documents were false, his failure to testify about these matters or present evidence discrediting them precludes a finding by this Court that the documents were in any way false or that they were admitted with knowledge of their falsity.

Finally, Bauer has not indicated how the admission of these documents impacted the case. Neither of these exhibits relate to the reasons for which Bauer was terminated.

**E. “Why not Testify? The Case was Won”**

In his brief, Bauer asserts, incredulously, that he did not testify because he felt that the Board was “sympath[etic]” to him, that he wanted to avoid being cross-examined, and that he intended all along to present his case through the District’s witnesses only. (Appellant’s Brief p. 17). Nothing in the record supports these assertions. Moreover, these explanations neither excuse Bauer’s failure to testify nor

---

“serious questions” as to the relevance and/or probative value of the information Bauer sought. (*See* R. p. 22-23).

salvage any of his arguments, which remain factually unsupported. Finally, it is not clear what reversible error on the part of the School Board is being alleged here. For these reasons, the Court need not consider this argument. *See Jones*, 387 S.C. at 346, 692 S.E.2d at 903 (requiring that appellant's grounds for appeal should be clear without forcing the court to "grope in the dark" to ascertain the precise point at issue).

Bauer also asserts that 17 documents which he claims he entered into the record disappeared. To the extent Bauer asserts there was error on the part of the School Board, this issue is unpreserved, as he did not raise it to the School Board or the Circuit Court. Regardless, Bauer agreed that the Board Chair's notes as to what was admitted, and what was not, would confirm which documents actually were entered into evidence. (Supp. R. p. 685, line 21-p. 686, line 23). Bauer further fails to state what impact the documents, had they been entered, would have had on the issues, and, therefore, fails to demonstrate what harm resulted from these documents not being available to him on appeal.

To the extent Bauer asserts Board counsel improperly influenced the Board's decision, this issue is not preserved because Bauer made no objection to Board counsel's presence as advice counsel during the hearing. Further, there is no evidence any improper influence occurred.<sup>11</sup> Instead, the record demonstrates Board counsel did much to assist Bauer, especially through his several attempts to convince Bauer to testify so that his position would be supported by some evidence in the record. Bauer's reliance on *Gonzales v. McEuen*, 435 F. Supp. 460 (C.D. Cal. 1977), is misplaced. In that case, the attorneys prosecuting the case also served as legal advisors to the board. *Id.* at 465. In

---

<sup>11</sup> It should be noted that Bauer moved to have Board counsel dismissed as the attorney in this appeal because of his role as the Board's advice counsel in the hearing before the board. (See Supp. R. pp. 4-9, 14-22). The Circuit Court properly denied that motion because no impropriety exists. (See Supp. R. pp. 38-39).

Bauer's case, the School Board's advice counsel did not prosecute the case, and was not affiliated with the administration's attorneys who prosecuted the case.

**F. "Additional Violations"**

Under the section entitled, "Additional Violations," Bauer lists various alleged "violations" by the School Board which he, presumably, believes amount to reversible error. However, these allegations are not explicitly listed in his Statement of Issues on Appeal and they are not sufficiently argued as they are unmoored from the facts of this case. Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR requires that each particular issue be particularly listed "followed by discussion and citations of authority." Where an issue is not argued within the body of the brief but is only a short conclusory statement, it is abandoned on appeal. *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 99, 594 S.E.2d 485, 496 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Glasscock, Inc. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001)).

Bauer has not properly argued the alleged additional violations. He makes no attempt to explain what the legal errors are or explain the alleged errors in terms of the facts of this case. He makes no arguments supporting the notion that these alleged violations are prejudicial or constitute reversible error. Item 54 improperly states what is required under section 59-25-430. *See* Section I. C. *supra*. Item 55 refers to the requirement for an improvement plan to be offered to teachers under Section 59-25-440. However, as the Circuit Court properly explained, this issue was not preserved because it was not raised to and ruled on by the School Board, nor is it relevant to this case as Bauer was terminated under Section 59-25-430, as noted in Section I. C. *supra*, not Section 59-25-440. (*See* R. p. 46). Item 56 does not allege any error or harm. Item 57, referring to

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